RECEIVED 05-04-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2019AP2065-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

RICHARD MICHAEL ARRINGTON,

Defendant-Appellant.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW AND APPENDIX

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARA LYNN SHAEFFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1087785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-5366 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) shaeffersl@doj.state.wi.us

####

#### INTRODUCTION

The State of Wisconsin petitions this Court for review of the court of appeals' decision in *State v. Richard Michael Arrington*, No. 2019AP2065-CR, 2021 WL 1256717 (Wis. Ct. App. Apr. 6, 2021) (unpublished) (recommended for publication). (Pet-App. 101–23.)

A jury convicted Arrington of first-degree intentional homicide. At trial, a confidential informant (CI) testified that while he was in jail with Arrington, Arrington started talking to the CI about the homicide. The CI approached police and asked if he should record Arrington, and the police said, Yes. The CI then recorded conversations with Arrington, and three audio excerpts were admitted at trial. Defense counsel did not object to the admission of the recordings.

Postconviction, one of Arrington's claims was that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to move to suppress the recordings and the CI's testimony. Because he was represented by counsel before the recordings, Arrington argued, counsel should have moved to suppress and argued that the State violated his Sixth Amendment right to counsel. The circuit court rejected Arrington's arguments, issuing multiple factual findings. It concluded that counsel was not ineffective when he did not move to suppress because there was no violation.

The court of appeals reversed. It concluded that "the State violated Arrington's Sixth Amendment right to counsel when [the CI] made the recordings of conversations with Arrington while acting as an agent of the State." (Pet-App. 102.) Therefore, given the violation, counsel was ineffective when he failed "to seek suppression or otherwise object to the admission of the recordings." (Pet-App. 102, 118.)

Case 2019AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 05-04-2021 Page 5 of 24

This Court should accept review, affirm the trial court, reinstate Arrington's conviction, and reverse the court of appeals.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did Arrington prove that his counsel was ineffective for failing to move to suppress the CI's recordings and testimony on Sixth Amendment grounds?

After testimony provided at a *Machner* hearing, the circuit court concluded: No.

The court of appeals reversed and concluded: Yes.

2. Did Arrington prove that the State violated his Sixth Amendment right to counsel?

After issuing extensive factual findings, the circuit concluded: No.

The court of appeals reversed and concluded: Yes.

### STATEMENT OF CRITERIA SUPPORTING REVIEW

As Arrington argued to the court of appeals, "the [S]tate's use of a confidential informant to record conversations with jail inmates whose right to counsel has attached is novel." (Arrington's COA Br. 2, Pet-App. 124.) It "is novel given that there is only one reported case in this state involving statements obtained by a jail informant. See State v. Lewis, 2010 WI App 52, 324 Wis. 2d 536, 781 N.W.2d 730." (Arrington's COA Br. 2, Pet-App. 124.) Thus, review in this case will help develop and clarify the law on an issue of statewide importance. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c).

The issues presented by this petition present two Sixth Amendment claims: ineffective assistance and a right-to-counsel violation, which are both "real and significant questions of federal . . . constitutional law." See Wis. Stat.

Case 2019AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 05-04-2021 Page 6 of 24

§ (Rule) 809.62(1r)(a). Finally, review is warranted because the court of appeals' opinion "is in conflict with controlling opinions of" this State. Specifically, the court of appeals' decision conflicts with its decision in *State v. Lewis*, 2010 WI App 52, 324 Wis. 2d 536, 781 N.W.2d 730. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(d).

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE Pre-trial and trial proceedings

The State charged Arrington with first-degree intentional homicide for the shooting death of Ricardo Gomez, and it also charged Arrington with felon in possession of a firearm. (R. 2; 73.) At trial there was no dispute that Arrington fired shots from a car towards the house where Gomez stood. (R. 275:96.) Arrington's defense was that he shot in self-defense, as he believed that a person standing next to Gomez (who went by the name "Shorty") was going to shoot him. (R. 275:94–97.) According to Arrington, it was Shorty who shot Gomez when Shorty was really trying to shoot Arrington. (R. 275:97–98, 146.)

CI Jason Miller testified that (after Arrington had been charged and represented by counsel) he had recorded conversations with Arrington when they were in the county jail. (R. 275:10.) Before Miller testified, the State requested to admit and play audio excerpts. (R. 275:6–7.) Defense counsel acknowledged to the court that he had the excerpts "for quite some time" and that he had reviewed them "long before trial." (R. 275:7.) He informed the court he had "no objection." (*Id.*)

Miller testified at trial that "in the beginning [Arrington] asked me to read his Criminal Complaint, asked me to – did I think there was enough there." (R. 275:13.) Arrington told him that he saw Gomez knock at Taylor's door, and Shorty opened it. (R. 275:17.) Arrington saw that Shorty noticed him, and Shorty said to Arrington, "What's up?" (*Id.*)

Case 2019AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 05-04-2021 Page 7 of 24

All Arrington could think about was a past incident where Shorty stabbed him, and the next thing that happened is that Arrington "just got to shooting." (R. 275:18.) Arrington told Miller that he (Arrington) "had a fucked-up aim," and that "when he got to shooting, Shorty jumped back, and when he jumped back, it hit [Gomez]." (R. 275:18–19.)

The State played the three recorded excerpts. (R. 275:19.) In one excerpt, Arrington stated that he "dumped down on the crib," which Miller testified meant that Arrington kept shooting at Taylor's house. (R. 275:28.)

Arrington testified at trial that on the day of the homicide, he, A.V.T., and Devin Landrum drove to the house next door to Taylor's to "pick up some marijuana." (R. 275:90.) Arrington parked in front of Taylor's house, Landrum left the car to get marijuana, and A.V.T. stayed in the car. (R. 275:91.) Arrington saw Gomez walk to Taylor's front porch, and Shorty opened the door. (R. 275:92, 135.) Shorty saw Arrington and, according to Arrington, Shorty "just start going crazy." (Id.) Arrington thought he saw Shorty reach for a gun, but admitted that he actually didn't see a gun. (R. 275:94.) Regardless, Arrington "reached into the side door and grabbed my gun from the side door," and "fired three shots out the window." (R. 275:95.) Arrington did not shoot directly at Gomez and Shorty, but "shot at the porch area, feet area of the porch," so that "nobody [would] be hurt." (Id.) As Arrington then drove away, he looked over his shoulder "and what I seen was Shorty come around the door with the gun in his hand at the same time that [Gomez] was coming into the house, and what it looked like to me was that Gomez had been shot by [Shorty]." (R. 275:97.)

The jury found Arrington guilty. (R. 276:143.)

Case 2019AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 05-04-2021 Page 8 of 24

#### The Machner hearing and postconviction decision

Postconviction, one of Arrington's claims was that he was entitled to a new trial due to ineffective assistance of counsel. (R. 219:10, 12.) Arrington argued his counsel was ineffective when he "fail[ed] to prevent the state from using at trial Arrington's statements to the jail informant." (R. 219:10.)

The court held a *Machner¹* hearing. Detectives Michael Wanta and Linzmeier testified, as well as Arrington and Arrington's trial counsel, Michael Hughes. (R. 278.) Hughes testified that before trial, he was aware that Miller was working as a confidential informant and that Miller had access to Arrington. (R. 278:9.) Hughes was also aware before trial that Miller had recorded conversations, and that Miller had the ability to turn off the recorder at will. (R. 278:10.) He testified that at no time before or during trial did he consider moving to suppress the recordings, nor did he research the issue. (R. 278:11.) After he reviewed some of the cases cited in Arrington's postconviction motion, Hughes testified that he believed he likely would have filed a suppression motion had he been aware of them. (R. 278:22.)

Detective Wanta testified that in early April 2016, Miller became an informant for him on a homicide case involving a suspect named Antwon Powell. (R. 278:29.) Wanta "became aware of Mr. Miller's request to speak with law enforcement" when Miller's attorney contacted "the district attorney's office which passed it on to the police department." (*Id.*) Wanta then met with Miller at the jail. (R. 278:31.) Wanta testified that he was aware that Miller was seeking consideration, but that he was not involved because "[t]hat is done by the District Attorney." (R. 278:32.) Miller told Wanta

5

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$   $State\ v.\ Machner,\ 92$  Wis. 2d 797, 804, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

Case 2019AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 05-04-2021 Page 9 of 24

that "Arrington was talking with him and he believed that Mr. Arrington would tell him things about the case and he asked if he should record it." (R. 278:36.) According to Wanta, "we said if you want to record the conversation you can." (R. 278:40.) Between April 13–16, police provided Miller with a digital recording device. (R. 278:35, 38.) When asked, "Did you give any direction to Mr. Miller as to what type of questions to ask?" Wanta replied, "I did not." (R. 278:43.) When asked, "Did you ever direct Mr. Miller to speak with Mr. Arrington?" Wanta replied, "Mr. Miller approached us or myself about speaking with Mr. Arrington and we said it was okay or we said he could record conversations." (R. 278:46.) Finally, when asked if Miller ever received consideration for his recordings, Wanta replied, "I believe he did not receive the consideration." (Id.)

Consistent with Wanta's testimony, Linzmeier testified that "Miller informed us that Mr. Arrington was talking about his case. And . . . I recall Mr. Miller saying he didn't know why Arrington felt comfortable speaking with him but he did and he asked if he should record any of those conversations." (R. 278:51.) Linzmeier told him, "Yes." (*Id.*) Like Wanta, Linzmeier testified that he did not give any direction to Miller to either question or speak to Arrington. (*Id.*)

Arrington testified that he believed he asked Attorney Hughes if there was a way to keep out the recordings, and Hughes told him "that the recordings really didn't matter because they didn't – he couldn't really hear much on 'em." (R. 278:75.) When asked if *he* could hear what was on the recordings, Arrington admitted, "Not really." (*Id*.)

The postconviction court concluded that Miller was not acting as an agent for the State when he recorded the conversations. (R. 247:3.) Therefore, Arrington's Sixth Amendment right to counsel was not violated. (*Id.*) The court provided multiple reasons for its decision. (R. 247:3–7.) First,

Case 2019AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 05-04-2021 Page 10 of 24

"[t]he State did not put Mr. Miller and Mr. Arrington together in [the same jail pod]. It was a coincidence." (R. 247:3.) Second, defense counsel for Miller approached the district attorneys' office about Miller "voluntarily contributing information to the police which prompted the police to have a discussion with [Miller] about being a confidential informant." (R. 247:4.) "The police never approached Mr. Miller about recording Mr. Arrington." (Id.) Third, Miller "voluntarily asked the police if he should record any information from Mr. Arrington, and the detective informed him that he could record such conversations." (Id.)

Citing Lewis, 324 Wis. 2d 536, ¶ 25, the court concluded, "when a person offers assistance to the police, we do not think the police must try to stop the person from providing assistance." (R. 247:4.) And, "it is not the government's burden to protect a defendant from their own 'loose talk." (Id.) In this case, "Miller made requests to speak to law enforcement. Not vice versa." (Id.) Fourth, police "made no promises to Mr. Miller that the fact that he was giving information would lead to a reduced sentence." (R. 247:4–5.) Fifth, "Arrington began talking to Mr. Miller about his case without Mr. Miller prompting the conversation." (R. 247:5.) "The police could not listen in on any conversation, and had not told what questions Mr. Miller should ask Mr. Arrington." (Id.) Further, "Arrington volunteered information to Mr. Miller without being prompted by Miller. (Id.) Sixth, Arrington was not the target of the investigation (Antwon Powell was), which shows "a lack of intent to make Mr. Miller a police agent." (R. 247:6.) The court again noted that "Miller voluntarily asked the police on his own initiative if he should record Mr. Arrington, and he was under no obligation to do so." (Id.) "Further," the court found, "the police never made any promise to Mr. Miller in terms of what he will receive for his cooperation." (Id.) Rather, "Miller was acting with the hope that the prosecutors in his case would give him a more

Case 2019AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 05-04-2021 Page 11 of 24

lenient sentence which is very similar to the confidential informant in *Lewis*, a primary source of law on this issue in Wisconsin, who was found to not be an agent of the State." (*Id.*)

Seventh, "the police did not even use the taped conversation of Mr. Arrington until approximately one year had passed." (R. 247:6.) And, "[o]ne would think if the recorded conversation by Mr. Arrington was so important, the police would have listened right away no matter the circumstances. This lack of review goes to police intent." (Id.) Eighth, "the use of 'CI' does not indicate agency." (R. 247:6.) Finally, the police had "no affirmative duty to keep Mr. Miller away from Mr. Arrington when they knew Mr. Miller was assisting with another case." (Id.) It is "not the government's job to protect defendants from their own 'loose talk." (R. 247:7.) In sum, the postconviction court determined that Arrington's Sixth Amendment right to counsel was not violated because Miller was not an agent of the State. (Id.) Consequently, there was "no ineffective assistance of counsel based on my decision about the [S]ixth [A]mendment." (R. 247:9.)

#### The court of appeals' decision

The court of appeals reversed the circuit court.

Regarding Arrington's Sixth Amendment claim, the court of appeals determined that "the question here becomes whether Miller was acting as an agent of law enforcement and was acting under the direction or control of law enforcement when he recorded his conversations with Arrington." (Pet-App. 115.) The court discussed the following cases: Massiah v. United States, 377 U.S. 201 (1964); United States v. Henry, 447 U.S. 264 (1980); Maine v. Moulton, 474 U.S. 159 (1985); Kuhlmann v. Wilson, 477 U.S. 436 (1986), and Lewis, 324 Wis. 2d 536. (Pet-App. 111–15.) It concluded that Miller was acting as an agent of the State. (Pet-App. 115.) It determined

Case 2019AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 05-04-2021 Page 12 of 24

that the conduct of the detectives was "prohibited by" those cases because (1) there was a prior formal agreement between the officers and Miller, and (2) the officers exercised control by giving Miller a recording device. (Pet-App. 117–18.)

Regarding Arrington's ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim, the court of appeals determined that defense counsel had no "strategic reason for failing to object," and that he "simply missed the issue." (Pet-App. 119.) The court determined defense counsel's representation "fell far below an objective standard of reasonableness," and was therefore deficient. (Pet-App. 120.) It also concluded that defense counsel's deficient performance prejudiced Arrington. According to the court, absent the CI's recordings and testimony, "there would have been sufficient questions regarding whether Arrington was acting in self-defense so as to raise a reasonable doubt about Arrington's guilt." (Pet-App. 122.)

#### ARGUMENT

This Court should accept review and reverse the court of appeals.

A. The court of appeals erroneously determined that counsel was ineffective for failing to raise a novel issue.

This case must be viewed through the lens of ineffective assistance of counsel. The State, therefore, discusses that primary issue before addressing Arrington's right-to-counsel claim on the merits.

Defense counsel's failure to move to suppress did not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel. Trial counsel can never be ineffective for declining to make an argument that controlling legal authority does not support. "[I]neffective assistance of counsel cases should be limited to situations where the law or duty is clear such that reasonable counsel

Case 2019AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 05-04-2021 Page 13 of 24

should know enough to raise the issue." State v. Lemberger, 2017 WI 39, ¶ 33, 374 Wis. 2d 617, 893 N.W.2d 232 (citation omitted). See also State v. Hanson, 2019 WI 63, ¶ 28, 387 Wis. 2d 233, 928 N.W.2d 607, cert denied, 140 S. Ct. 407 (2019) (providing: "In order to constitute deficient performance, the law must be settled in the area in which trial counsel was allegedly ineffective."). Thus, counsel's "failure to raise arguments that require the resolution of unsettled legal questions generally does not render a lawyer's services 'outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance' sufficient to satisfy the Sixth Amendment." State v. Breitzman, 2017 WI 100, ¶ 49, 378 Wis. 2d 431, 904 N.W.2d 93 (quoting Lemberger, 374 Wis. 2d 617, ¶ 33).

Here, for defense counsel to be deemed deficient, Arrington "would need to demonstrate that counsel failed to raise an issue of settled law." *Breitzman*, 378 Wis. 2d 431, ¶ 49. And as Arrington admitted in his court of appeals' brief, the court of appeals has addressed the issue "involving statements obtained by a jail informant" only once. (Arrington's COA Br. 2, Pet-App. 124.) It is a "novel" issue. (*Id.*) Indeed, the way that this case evolved *proves* that whether the conduct involved here constitutes a Sixth Amendment violation is unsettled: the circuit court, after conducting a *Machner* hearing and issuing multiple reasons, concluded there was no Sixth Amendment violation. But the court appeals reversed and concluded that there was.

Again, counsel is not ineffective for failing to raise an argument—even one that might have been successful—premised on a novel legal analysis or unsettled law. Here, defense counsel testified at the *Machner* hearing that he had practiced criminal law his entire career, since 2008. (R. 278:16.) And, when he represented Arrington, he was practicing criminal law "100 per cent." (R. 278:17.) His failure to move to suppress on Sixth Amendment grounds in this case

Case 2019AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 05-04-2021 Page 14 of 24

was not "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance" sufficient to satisfy the Sixth Amendment because it was a novel issue. *See Breitzman*, 378 Wis. 2d 431, ¶ 49.

Arrington also failed to establish that the law was well-established in his favor. Given the court of appeals' decision in *Lewis*, counsel would have had no reason to believe that a Sixth Amendment challenge would have been successful. Indeed, in denying Arrington's ineffective assistance claim, the circuit court determined that there was no Sixth Amendment violation based on *Lewis*. (R. 247:9.) On this record, the court of appeals erred when it determined that counsel's performance was deficient.

The court also erred when it determined that any deficiency prejudiced Arrington. Confidence in the trial's outcome was not undermined by admitting Miller's testimony or recordings. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 694 (1984). Rather, the State presented overwhelming of Arrington's guilt through the testimony of numerous witnesses, including:

- Craig Taylor testified that Arrington previously robbed Shorty. On the day of the shooting, Taylor saw Arrington "circling the block" and that Arrington "just had that look in his eye like he wanted to kill something." Taylor also saw the bullets hit Gomez and Gomez fall into Shorty. At no point did Taylor see Shorty with a gun, and Shorty "never reached for nothing." Rather, he saw Arrington shoot immediately: "[a]s soon as [Arrington] sees him peek his head, [Arrington] started shooting into the doorway." (R. 271:45, 48–49, 55, 57, 60, 62, 63.)
- Lawrence Hawkins testified that when he left Taylor's house before the shooting, Arrington asked him if Shorty was inside. (R. 271:217–19.)

Case 2019AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 05-04-2021 Page 15 of 24

• James Allen testified that days before the shooting, Arrington told Allen that he robbed Shorty, that Shorty had stabbed him, and that Arrington said, "I'm going to fuck [Shorty] up." (R. 274:196, 198.)

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