Filed 05-17-2021

Page 1 of 24

RECEIVED 05-17-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2019AP2065 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

RICHARD MICHAEL ARRINGTON,

Defendant-Appellant.

RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SUZANNE L. HAGOPIAN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1000179

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-5177 hagopians@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

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

The government's conduct was a clear violation of the Sixth Amendment's guarantees enunciated by The court of appeals correctly the Supreme Court. held that "[w]hat occurred here was the intentional, surreptitious creation of an opportunity to confront Arrington without counsel present." Arrington, Citing *Henry*, the court slip op., ¶36 (App. 117). concluded "the detectives' actions violated the Sixth Amendment because they created a situation likely to induce Arrington to make incriminating statements without his counsel's assistance." Id. Quoting Kuhlmann, the court concluded, "Law enforcement and Miller took action beyond merely listening, that was designed to elicit incriminating' statements for use against Arrington." Id., citing Kuhlmann, 477 U.S. at 459. Review is unwarranted because the court of appeals' holding is compelled by Supreme Court precedent.

C. The court of appeals' holding does not conflict with *Lewis*.

The state's claim that review is warranted because the court of appeals' decision conflicts with *Lewis* is without merit. The court of appeals correctly applied the standard set forth in *Lewis* in concluding that Miller was acting as an agent of law enforcement when he recorded his conversations with Arrington. Arrington, slip op., \P 28-37 (App. 114-18).

In Lewis, the court of appeals addressed whether inculpatory statements made by a represented defendant to a jailhouse cellmate violated the defendant's Sixth Amendment rights. The court of appeals found no violation because Lewis' cellmate, a man named Gray, "acted purely on his own in the hope of getting further sentencing consideration" Lewis, 324 Wis. 2d 536, ¶1. Gray was not equipped with a recording device, he was not an informant for any law enforcement agency in Wisconsin, and he had no contact with law enforcement until after he obtained information from Lewis. Id. at \P 5-9.

The court of appeals held that establishing an agency relationship "requires evidence of some prior formal agreement—which may or may not be evidenced by a promise of consideration—plus evidence of control or instructions by law enforcement." *Id.* at ¶1. Where, as in *Lewis*, "there is just 'hope' and nothing else," the jailhouse informant is not a government agent. *Id.* at ¶23.

Here, the court of appeals correctly concluded that both prongs were satisfied. The attempt to gain information from inmates, including Arrington, was "planned between Miller and law enforcement in advance." *Arrington*, slip op., ¶32 (App. 116). As part of the planning, Miller agreed to wear a

 $\mathbf{7}$

recording device, and the detectives expressly authorized Miller to record conversations with Arrington.

The state claims there was no prior formal agreement because "Miller was not told of any contemplated consideration until well *after* the recordings were made." (State's petition, p. 14). That assertion is both legally and factually incorrect.

First, evidence of consideration is not required in order to have a prior formal agreement. Under *Lewis*, "some prior formal agreement ... *may or may not* be evidenced by a promise of consideration" *Lewis*, 324 Wis. 2d 536, ¶1 (emphasis added).

Second, as to the facts, the record shows that consideration was contemplated and given. The circuit court found that the detectives knew Miller was seeking consideration for his work. Arrington, slip op., ¶34 (App. 116). The detectives told Miller that "the information he would gather would ... be used as part of his consideration." Id. The understanding was the more Miller produced the more consideration he might get. (278:32). In fact, the state ultimately provided Miller consideration by offering him a plea agreement on his pending charges that contemplated a "full debrief and testimony" on Arrington. (237).

The state also claims there was no police control or instructions because the detectives did not tell Miller what questions to ask. (State's petition, p. 14). In *Lewis*, the court wrote that as long as the police "do nothing to direct or control or involve themselves in" the questioning of a person in custody by a private citizen, there is no Sixth Amendment violation. *Lewis*, 324 Wis. 2d 536, ¶25, quoting United States v. Surridge, 687 F.2d 250, 255 (8th Cir. 1982) (emphasis added in *Lewis*). As the court of appeals recognized here, the detectives did a lot more than nothing.

> ... law enforcement outfitted Miller with a recording device in order to create recordings of information obtained from Arrington. Officers then planned to retrieve the recordings, preserve them as evidence, and then refit Miller with the recording device the next day. The record further shows that Miller initiated the conversation with Arrington on each occasion with the officers' full knowledge. Moreover, both Miller and law enforcement knew that Miller was attempting to obtain information on Arrington's case. Although Miller was not told what to say or ask, the detectives new that Arrington would talk to Miller about his case, and they were interested in recording those conversations.

Arrington, slip op., ¶33 (App. 116).

The court of appeals correctly applied *Lewis* and the Supreme Court precedent upon which the *Lewis* agency standard is based when it held that "[t]he conduct by the detectives here is the very conduct that is prohibited by [those] cases."

9

Arrington, slip op., ¶35 (App. 117). Review is unwarranted because the court of appeals applied well-established precedent to the egregious conduct in this case and correctly held that Mr. Arrington's right to counsel was violated.

II. Whether trial counsel was ineffective in failing to move to suppress or otherwise object to Miller's testimony and the recordings satisfies none of this court's criteria for granting review.

The state claims that review is warranted because the court of appeals erroneously determined that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to raise a novel issue involving "unsettled law." (State's As shown above, the law petition, pp. 9-11). governing Arrington's claim is not unsettled and the novelty is the flagrancy of the violation. The state presents no credible argument suggesting, much less establishing, that any of the criteria for granting review under Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r) is What's left is the state's dissatisfaction satisfied. with the result. But there is no error to correct, even if this court were an error-correcting court, which it is not.

As shown above, the court of appeals correctly held that admission of the recordings and Miller's testimony about the recordings "constituted a clear violation of Arrington's Sixth Amendment right to counsel." *Arrington*, slip op., ¶44 (App. 120). As the court concluded, the record shows that trial counsel "simply missed the issue." Id. at ¶41 (App. 119). Counsel testified at the Machner¹ hearing that although he had the recordings "for quite some time" and reviewed them "long before trial" (275:7), he had not considered whether the statements were obtained in violation of Arrington's right to counsel and he had not researched the question. (278:11, 21-22). When asked if he would have sought to suppress the statements had he identified the claim, counsel testified that he "likely would have" and, "I believe I would have, yes." (278:11, 22). The court of appeals correctly held that counsel's failure to seek to exclude the recordings was not strategic and "fell far below an objective standard of reasonableness." Arrington, slip op., ¶44 (App. 120).

The court of appeals also correctly held that prejudice was proven because "the recordings and statements eliminated any self-defense that Arrington could make, which was the only defense he had at trial." *Id.* at ¶46 (App. 121).

The evidence was undisputed that Arrington fired three or more gunshots toward the front of a house where the victim, Ricardo Gomez, was standing near another man nicknamed "Shorty" who had recently attacked Arrington. In dispute was whether, as the state maintained, Arrington fired the shots intending to kill Shorty in retaliation but instead hit Mr. Gomez, or, as Arrington testified, he

¹ State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

fired in self-defense because he saw Shorty reaching for a gun and it was Shorty's bullet that struck and killed Mr. Gomez.

Through the recordings and Miller's testimony, in which Miller interpreted for jurors the profanity and slang laced recordings, the jury learned that Arrington said he "dumped the crib down" – kept shooting at the house – because he was angry at Shorty. (275:28). The jury heard that the two talked about having to convince "the bitch" who was in the car with Arrington to not come to court and how he had wiped down the car to hide gunshot residue. (275:19-21).

Most importantly, the jury learned what Arrington did *not* say when Miller recorded their conversation just days after the shooting. Miller testified that Arrington did not tell him that he saw Shorty with a gun, that Shorty fired a gun, or that it was actually Shorty who shot Mr. Gomez. (275:19, 28, 30).

As the court of appeals correctly concluded, "there was some evidence supporting Arrington's selfdefense claim making counsel's failure to object to the admissibility of the recordings all the more prejudicial." *Arrington*, slip op., ¶47 (App. 121-22). Of the state's witnesses at trial, only four were present at the shooting, and three of those witnesses testified they saw Shorty reaching for something. (271:185; 274:106; 275:49-50). The fourth did not see Arrington fire any shots and, contrary to the autopsy, believed Mr. Gomez was shot twice in the back, casting doubt on the reliability of his testimony. In addition, as the prosecutor conceded at trial, "[s]cience in this case hasn't been able to prove anything really for sure." Arrington, slip op., ¶47 (App. 21). An officer testified that bullet holes on or near the porch were all at foot level or below, confirming Arrington's testimony that he fired toward the foot area of the porch. (*Id.*). Although an expert testified about gunshot residue found on Mr. Gomez's jacket, she could not determine the distance from which the bullet was shot that penetrated the jacket. (*Id.*). It could have been fired from a distance or from close range. (274:153, 161).

The court of appeals correctly held that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced Mr. Arrington.

This court should deny review because the court of appeals correctly applied well-established, binding precedent to reach its conclusions that the government's conduct violated Mr. Arrington's Sixth Amendment right to counsel and that his attorney's failure to seek exclusion of the unlawfully obtained evidence constituted ineffective assistance of counsel. The decision is recommended for publication, as Arrington requested, which should put to rest the tactic that had been used against him and at least one other inmate. Contrary to the state's claim, the governing law is neither unclear nor unsettled. The state has not shown that the criteria for granting review are satisfied.

III. If review is granted, Mr. Arrington will renew his claim of plain error as an alternative ground for affirming the court of appeals.

Pursuant to § 809.62(3)(d), Mr. Arrington alerts the court that an alternative ground for affirming the court of appeals exists, which is plain error. If, over Arrington's objections, the court grants review, he will renew the arguments made below that the state's use of its confidential informant to secretly record conversations with Arrington amounts to plain error.²

Under the plain error doctrine in Wis. Stat. § $901.03(4)^3$ a conviction may be vacated when an unpreserved error is fundamental, obvious and substantial. *State v. Jorgensen*, 2008 WI 60, ¶21, 310 Wis. 2d 138, 754 N.W.2d 77. "[W]here a basic

 $^{^2}$ The trial court did not address plain error or ineffective assistance of counsel because it concluded the government's conduct did not violate Arrington's Sixth Amendment right to counsel. The court of appeals reversed due to ineffective assistance of counsel without addressing plain error.

³ The statute provides, "Nothing in this rule precludes taking notice of plain errors affecting substantial rights although they were not brought to the attention of the judge." Wis. Stat. § 901.03(4).

constitutional right has not been extended to the accused,' the plain error doctrine should be invoked." *State v. Lammers*, 2009 WI App 136, ¶13, 321 Wis. 2d 376, 773 N.W.2d 463, *quoting Virgil v. State*, 84 Wis. 2d 166, 195, 267 N.W.2d 852 (1978).

Few rights are more important to the accused than the right to counsel guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment and Article I, § 7. It is a "fundamental right." Forbush, 332 Wis. 2d 620, ¶13, citing Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 462 (1938). The state's violation of Mr. Arrington's fundamental right to counsel is obvious given the Supreme Court's decisions in Massiah, Moulton, Henry and *Kuhlmann*, as well as the court of appeals' decision in *Lewis.* The Supreme Court has warned:

> Any secret interrogation of the defendant, from and after the finding of the indictment, without the protection afforded by the presence of counsel, contravenes the basic dictates of fairness in the conduct of criminal causes and the fundamental rights of persons charged with crime.

Massiah, 377 U.S. at 205 (citation omitted). In *Henry*, the Supreme Court applied that principle to statements obtained by a jail informant and held that the statements were obtained in violation of Henry's Sixth Amendment rights. *Henry*, 447 U.S. at 274. It reached that holding even though, unlike here, the government had not outfitted the informant with a recording device and had specifically told the informant not to initiate any conversation with Henry about the crime with which he was charged. *Id.* at 266. What occurred here is more egregious, making the violation of Mr. Arrington's right to counsel both obvious and substantial.

Reversal of Arrington's conviction would be warranted on this ground as well because the state could not meet its burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found him guilty absent the error. *Jorgensen*, 310 Wis. 2d 138, ¶23 (burden to prove harmlessness shifts to the state once a fundamental, obvious and substantial error is established). Any claim by the state that it could meet that heavy burden is inconsistent with its heavy reliance on that evidence at trial.

Through the recordings and Miller's testimony, the state was able to place before the jury evidence from Arrington's own mouth contradicting his theory of defense and his testimony at trial. Arrington's words, recorded eleven days after the shooting, undermined the claim that he fired in self-defense and that it was Shorty who actually shot Mr. Gomez. The state made that point by calling Miller as its final witness, playing portions of the recordings for the jury, challenging on cross-examination of Arrington his contradictory statements to Miller, and highlighting in closing arguments the statements that, unknown to the jury, were unlawfully obtained. The prosecutor gushed in closing about the good fortune of having the unimpeachable recordings made by its final witness, Miller.

Last witness [w]as Justin [sic] Miller. Now, I think what's fortunate in that case is, you know, a lot of times defense lawyers will attack people and say they're lying, they have motives to lie or reasons, and the problem they have with Justin [sic] Miller, though, is we got the recording. We don't just have, right, Justin [sic] Miller, who was in jail with him, saying I'll tell you what he had to say.

(276:58-59). The prosecutor reminded the jury what Arrington did *not* say to Miller.

He never mentions to this guy he's talking to at the jail that Shorty had a gun. He never mentioned to this guy he's talking to at the jail for advice that someone else had a gun, that someone else shot somebody. None of that.

(276:60). Shortly thereafter, the prosecutor asked the jury to find Arrington guilty of first-degree intentional homicide. The jury did just that.

On this record, the state could not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that its use at trial of the statements its informant unlawfully obtained from Mr. Arrington was harmless. The state's flagrant violation of Arrington's right to counsel constitutes plain error, an alternative ground for affirming the decision of the court of appeals.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth, Mr. Arrington respectfully requests that the court deny the state's petition for review.